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REeEjVEO 
FEDERAL ELECTION 

COMMISSION 

Z8f I JUN -8 AH 9~ 07 
BEFORE THB FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

In the Matter of 

TraosCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, 
LLC; Bruning for Attorney Geneial; 
Governor Heineman Committee 

) 
) 
) MURs6401 and 6432 
) 
) 

CBRTIFICATION 

CELA 

I, Shawn Woodhead Werth, Secretary and Clerk of the Federal Election 

Commission, do hereby cemfy that on Iunc 07, 2011, the Commission clecided 

· )Jy a vote of S-1 ~ take the following actions in MUR.s 6401 and 6432: 

I. Find no reason to believe in MURs 6401 and 6432 that TnnsCanada 
Keystone Pipeline, GP, LLC violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le. 

2. Find lJQ I'CISOD to b&Jieve in MURs 6401 and 6432 that Bruning for 
Attorney Gmml violated 2 U.S.C. § 441e. 

3. Find no reason to believe in MURs 6401 and 6432 that the Governor 
Heineman Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le. 

4. Approve the Factual and Legal Analyses in MURs 6401 and 6432, as 
recommended iB the First o..a1 Counsel's Report dated May 19, 
2011. . 

S. Approve tho appropriate letters. 



. . . 
Pecleral Election Commission 
MURs 6401 and 6432 
June07, 2011 

6. Close the files in MUR 6401 and MUR 6432. 

Commissioners Bauerly, Hunter, McGalm D, Petersen, and Weintraub 

voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther dissented. 

Attest: 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON. D.C. 20463 

Mike ·McNamara 
Michael E. Zolandz 
SNR Denton US LLP 
1301 K Street, NW 
Suite 600, East Tower 
Washington, DC 20005 

Dear Messrs. McNamara & Zolandz: 

JUN 13 2011 

RE: MUR6401 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

On October 27, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified your client, 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC, oftwo complaints denoted as MUR 6401, 
alleging violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On 
June 7, 2011, the Commission found, nn ihe basis nfthe oonrolaints and information 
provided in your response that there is no reasOd to believe the TransCannc!a Keystone 
Pipoline GP, LLC, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44ie. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file 
in this matter. 

Docum1entc related to the oase ~rill be placod ea. the publh~ reconi within 30 4ays. 
See Statement efPolicy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files, 
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First 
General Counsel's Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). 
The Factual and Legal Analysis, whioh explains the Commission's finding, is eaclosed 
for your Information. 

If you. have any questions, please contact Dawn M. Odrewski, the attorney 
assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650 . 

../ly, 
~~Q-~uck~ 

Acting Assistant General Counsel 

Enclosure 
Factual and Legal Analysis 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

RESPONDENT: TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC MURS: 6401 and 6432 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This matter was geaerated by complaints filed with the Federal Election Commission by 

the Nebraska Democratic Party and Bold Nebraska, allegins violations of the Federal Election 

Campaign Act, of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), by TraasCanuda Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC. 

II. f4CTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

A. Facts 

The complaints allege that TransCanada Corporation, a Canadian corporation 

(''TransCanada''), or one of its foreign subsidiaries actually made donations of $2,500 each to 

two Nebraska state candidate committees that the committees reported as made by either 

"TransCanada Keystone Pipeline" or "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline LP." Respondent 

TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, GP, LLC (''Keystone"), is a limited liability company registered 

in Delaware and headquartered in Texas with operations in Omaha, Nebraska. Keystone 

Response at 2. Keystoae is the gt~nnral partner in TransCanmia Keystone PipelilrtC, Lll 

("Keystone LP"), a Delaware limitad partnership. Keystone Supplemental Response at 1 and 

Response, Ex. A (organizational chart). Keystone jointly owns and controls Keystone LP with a 

limited partner, TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LLC, another Delaware limited liability 

company. Id Keystone and its limited partner are, in tum, subsidiaries of a Delaware 

corporation, TransCanada Oil Pipelines, Inc. All four entities are ultimately wholly-owned by 

TransCanada. Keystone Response, Ex. A. TransCanada is an energy infrastructure company 

that, among other things, develops and operates natural gas and oil pipelines in North America. 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCaaada Keystone Pipeline GP. LLC 

1 Keystone LP is apparently responsible for constructing and operating the U.S. portion of an oil 

2 pipeline that transports crude oil from Alberta, Canada, to U.S. markets. See TransCanada 

3 March 14, 2008, press release available at www.transcanada.com/3036.html. 

4 As general partner, Keystone directs all of the activities of Keystone LP, and Keystone 

s employees approved and directed Keystone LP to make the donations at issue to the state 

(J) 6 • committees in this ntatter. Keystone Response at 2; SUfYylemental Response at 1. According to 

...... 7 0. Keystone, sometime before December 11,2009, B.etb Jensen, its Directer ofGevemment 
Q 
trl 8 Relations and a U.S. citi;ren, reviewr.d with outside counsel the permissibility and attendant 
q 
q" 9 
(;) 

reporting requirements, under state law, of making donations to Nebraska state candidates. 

f"'l 
...... 10 Keystone Response at 2. Subsequently, Jensen approved donations of$2,500 each to the 

11 Governor Heineman Committee ("Heineman Committee") and Bruning for Attorney General 

12 ("Bruning Committee"), the campaign committees of two Nebraska candidates. ld. Jensen sent 

13 an email on December 11,2009, instructing TransCanada's Accounts Payable staffto issue 

14 checks from Keystone operating funds to the two state campaigns. Id., Ex. B. The Accounts 

15 Payable center, located in Calgary, Alberta, processed the checks. The Accounts Payable center 

16 issued the checks on a Keystone-controlled "U.S. funds Citibank account" in the name of 

17 Keystone I..P and sellt them to Je1111en. Id. Jensen then forwar.ded tho checks to Kissel E&S 

18 Associates, an Omaha, Nebraska-based outside consulting firm engaged by Keystone in its 

19 government relations efforts. Kissel representatives hand-delivered the checks to the candidate 

20 committees, apparently in January 2010. ld. 

21 Copies of the checks show that each was drawn on an account of''TransCanada Keystone 

22 Pipeline, LP, 450 151 Street S.W., Calgary Alberta 502 5Hl." Keystone Response, Ex. C. A 

23 printed notation on the check face underneath the amount reads "U.S. FUNDS, TransCanada 

2 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keysto:ae Pipeline GP. LLC 

Keystone Pipeline, LP." ld. The checks also indicate the bank where the account was 

maintained is Citibank, N.A., at an address in New York City. 

As required under Nebraska law, on February 2, 2010, Jensen filed with the Nebraska 

Accountability and Disclosure Commission ("NADC") a Form B-7, "Report of Political 

Contributions of a Corporation, Union or Other Association,'' for each donation. In those forms, 

Keystone asserts that Jensen erroneously -Identified TransCanadu CorporatioB as the donor. 

Keystone Response at 3, and Ex. D. The forms lbJt 1mother Omaha, Nebraska, address where 

Keystone operates locally. Keystone Response at 2, Ex. 9. The Form B-7s have since been 

amended to show Keystone LP as the donor. Id., Ex. E. 

The Heineman and Bruning Committees' initial disclosure reports show that they either 

incompletely or erroneously reported the donations at issue. 1 The Heineman Committee reported 

its donation as coming from TransCanada Keystone Pipeline at the 450 1st St. address printed on 

the check but listed the city and state as Omaha, Nebraska, rather than Calgary. See MUR 6401 

Complaint attachment, Heineman Committee NADC Form B-1, Schedule B, page 10 of 11; 

MUR 6432 Complaint, Ex. 1. The Bruning Committee reported its donation ·as coming from 

TrallSCIBlada Keystone PipeliRe LP with r1o address whatsoever. See MUR 6401 Complaint 

Amendment, Brua.ing Committee NADC Form 8-1, Sehedule B, Jmge 11 of 12; MUR 6432 

Complaint, Ex. 2. 

1 It appears that only the most current version of the state disclosure reports are available on the NADC's website 
since the state committees" reports for the period in question now available on-line have been amended. The NADC 
website states that the website database is based on the paper records filed with the NADC and that the paper 
records constitute the official records. See NADC website at hqp://nadc.noJ.org/ccdb/search.cgi. 

3 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

According to the complaint in MUR 6432, an auditor at the NADC discovered that the 

street address in one of the disclosure reports belonged to TransCanada in Calgary, Alberta.2 

MUR 6432 Complaint at 2 and Ex. 3. The NADC contacted the Bruning and Heineman 

Committees on September 30, 2010, about the possibility that the Keystone LP donation may not 

have been from a U.S. corporation. That same day, each committee separately issued refund 

checks to "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP. w Keystoae Response at 2. Keystone states that 

the committees refimded the donatinns "out o.fnu abundance ,ofeaution" despite clarifying 

information it provided to them. Keystone Response at 3. 

B. Analysis 

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), prohibits a foreign 

national, directly or indirectly, from making a contribution or donation of money or other thing 

of value in connection with a Federal, State, or local election. 2 U.S.C. 

§ 44le(a)(l)(A), (B); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b). A foreign national is also prohibited from directly 

or indirectly making an expenditure, an independent expenditure, or a disbursement in 

connection with a Federal, State, or local election. 2 U.S.C. § 441e(a)(l)(C); 11 C.P.R. 

§ 11 0.20(f). In addition, Commission regulations prohibit for:ign nationals from directing, 

dictating, controlling, or din:ctly or indirectly partieip,titing in the decisi001-mak.ing process of any 

person, such as a corporation, with regard to such pefson 's election-related ar.tivities, including 

decisions concerning the making of contributions, donations, expenditures, or disbursements in 

connection with elections for any Federal, State, or local office. 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(i). 

2 The MUR 6432 complaint and an attached Internet article state that the Calgary street address was listed in the 
Bruning Committee's state disclosure report. The attached copies of the original paper reports, filed on Aprill2, 
20 I 0, however, show that the Heineman Committee listed a street address and the Bruning Committee listed no 
address. See MUR 6432 Complaint at Ex. 1 and Ex. 2. 

4 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

I The Act and Commission regulations define "foreign national" to include "foreign 

2 principals," as defined in 22 U .S.C. § 611 (b), and an individual who is not a citizen or national of 

3 the United States and who is not a permanent resident. 2 U.S.C. § 44le(b). A "foreign 

4 principal" includes "a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of 

5 persons organized under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign 

~ 6 
L.n 

country ... 2 U.S.C. § 44le(b)(l) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 6ll(b)(3)). 

rl 
7 0 In past adv~sory opinions, the Commission has permitted a U.S. subsidiary of a foreign 

co 
N1 8 q 

national corporation t~o make donations and disbursements in conaection with state and local 

• 9 (;) elections when: (I) the donations and disbursements derive entirely from funds generated by the 
.-.t 
.-1 10 subsidiary and not from funds provided by the foreign parent; and (2) when all decisions 

11 concerning the donations and disbursements are made by U.S. citizens or permanent residents, 

12 except for setting the overall budget for donations. See Advisory Opinions 2006-15 

13 (TransCanada)(wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of a foreign corporation that receive no 

14 subsidies from their foreign parent or other foreign national may make donations to state and 

15 local candidates as long as no foreign national participates in the decision-making, except for 

16 setting overall budget amounts, and they use funds generated by their domestic oporations 

17 maintaintal in U.S. bank BCCOBnts); 1992-15 (Naasay Hawaii)(whally-owned subsidiary of a 

18 foreign corporation that received some subsidies from its foreign parent may make donations in 

19 connection with. state and local elections where it currently had substantial net earnings 

20 generated by its domestic operations placed in segregated accounts that received no subsidies, 

21 and provided that, in the future, it could demonstrate through a reasonable accounting method 

22 that it had sufficient funds in its accounts to make donations, other than funds given or provided 

23 by its foreign national parent). 

s 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline OP, LLC 

1 Keystone states that the donations to the state candidate committees were made with U.S. 

2 operating funds from an account maintained in a U.S. financial institution. /d. at 3. It points out 

3 that the attached photocopies of the donation checks were drawn on a New York Citibank, N.A. 

4 bank account and bear the notation .. U.S. Funds" on the check faces. It also explains that the 

5 Canadian address on the checks is that ofTransCanada's Accounts Payable center, an office that 

6 merely processes payments amhorizod by operating units ofTransCanada, including Keystone. 

7 Id. at 3. Finally, Keystone states that Keystone LP received no subsidies from foreign nationaJs 

8 and generated substanti.al .net earnings from which it funded the donations. Keystone 

9 Supplemental Response at 1-2. There is no information indicating that the donations were 

10 derived from non-U.S. funds. 

11 With respect to the status of those involved in making the donations, Keystone's response 

12 identifies only Beth Jensen, a U.S. citizen, and describes her role as approving and directing the 

13 disbursement of the donations. The response also states, however, that no foreign individual or 

14 entity "participate[ d] in the decision making process regarding the making of the contributions" 

15 and none directed or conttoHed the donations. Keystone Response at 3; see also Id at 1. 

16 Consequently, it may be that Ms. JenS\,-n was the sole decision-maker involved in making the 

17 donations or ~that Keystone decided not tD specifigally identify other non-foreign nationals who 

18 were involved in the decisien-making process. In any case, the Commission possesses no 

19 information suggesting that any non-U.S. citizen or non-permanent resident was involved in 

20 decisions to make the donations. 

21 Based on Keystone's response, it appears that the donations to the Bruning and Heineman 

22 Committees were made using funds generated by a domestic subsidiary that received no 

23 subsidies from a foreign national, and that no foreign national was involved in the decision to 

6 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

1 make the donations. Accordingly, the Commission has determined to find no reason to believe 

2 that TransCanada Keystone GP, LLC, as the general partner that conducts the activities of 

3 Keystone LP, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441e. 

7 



· FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON. D.C. 20463 

CERTIFIED MAIL 
RE'l'URN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

Laura A. Wigley 
Nebraska Democratic Party 
1327 H Street, Suite 200 
Lincoln, NE 68508 

Dear Ms. Wigley: 

JUN 13 2011 

RE: MUR6401 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 
Bruning for Attorney General 
Governor Heineman Conunittee 

On June 7, 2011, the Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations in your two 
complaints, dated October 18,2010 and denoted as MUR 6401, and found that on the basis of 
the complaints and information in responses to them, there is no reason to believe that 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC~ Bnming for Attorttey Gentmll, and the Governor 
Heineman Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le. Accordingly, on June 7, 2011, the Commission 
closed the file in this matter. 

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 3 0 days. See 
Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files, 
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dee. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General 
Counsel's Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). The Factual and 
Legal Analyses, whiCh more fully explains the Commission's findings are enclosed. 

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek 
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(aX8). 

Enclosures 
Factual and Legal Analyses (3) 

Sincerely, 

Christopher Hughey 
-~ General Counsel 

~7~~ 
BY: Roy Q. Luckett 

Acting Assistant General Counsel 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

RESPONDENT: TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC MURS: 6401 and 6432 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This matter was generated by complaints filed with the Federal Election Commission by 

the Nebraska Democratic Party and Bold Nebraska, alisgitra violations of the Federal Electi011 

Campaign Act, of 1971, as amended ("tl~ Act"), by TransCannda Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC. 

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL AN4T.YSIS 

A. Facts 

The comp~aints allege that TransCanada Corporation, a Canadian corporation 

("TransCanada"), or one of its foreign subsidiaries actually made donations of$2,500 each to 

two Nebraska state candidate committees that the committees reported as made by either 

·~ransCanada Keystone Pipeline" or "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline LP." Respondent 

TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, GP, LLC {"Keystone"), is a limited liability company registered 

in Delaware and headquartered in Texas with opcl'ations in Omaha, Nebraska. Keystone 

Response at 2. KeystOI!le is the general partner in TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP 

("Keystone LP''), a Delaware limited partnership. Keystone SupP'lemental Response at 1 and 

Response, Ex. A {organizational chart). Keystone jointly owns and controls Keystone LP with a 

limited partner, TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LLC, another Delaware limited liability 

company. Id Keystone and its limited partner are, in tum, subsidiaries of a Delaware 

corporation, TransCanada Oil Pipelines, Inc. All four entities are ultimately wholly-owned by 

TransCanada. Keystone Response, Ex. A. TransCanada is an energy infrastructure company 

that, among other things, develops and operates natural gas and oil pipelines in North America. 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystane Pipeline GP, LLC 

I Keystone LP is apparently responsible for constructing and operating the U.S. portion of an oil 

2 pipeline that transports crude oil from Alberta, Canada, to U.S. markets. See TransCanada 

3 March 14,2008, press release available at www.transcanada.com/3036.html. 

4 As general partner, Keystone directs all of the activities of Keystone LP, and Keystone 

5 employees approved and directed Keystone LP to make the donations at issue to the state 

co 6 committees in this matter. Keystone Response at 2; Supplemental Response at I. According to .,. 
...... 7 
(;) 

Keystoae, sometime before Decembcrl" II, 20fr9, Beth Jcusen, its Dimctor ofGovernmnnt 

(l) 
8 M'l Relations and a U.S. citizen, reviewed with outside counsel the permissibility and attendant 

q 
q' 9 
0 

reporting requiroments, under state law, of making donations to Nebraska state candidates. 

.-t 10 ..... Keystone Response at 2. Subsequently, Jensen approved donations of$2,500 each to the 

II Governor Heineman Committee ("Heineman Committee") and Bruning for Attorney General 

12 ("Bruning Committee"), the campaign committees of two Nebraska candidates. Id. Jensen sent 

13 an email on December II, 2009, instructing TransCanada's Accounts Payable staffto issue 

14 checks from Keystone operating funds to the two state campaigns. /d., Ex. B. The Accounts 

15 Payable center, located in Calgary, Alberta, processed the checks. 1"he Accounts Payable center 

16 issued the checks on a Keystone-controlled ••u.s. funds Citibank account" in the name of 

17 Keystnne .LP and sent thcrn to Jensen. Id. Jensen then forwarded the checks te Kissel E&S 

18 Associates, an Omaha, Nebraw-bastd outside consulting firm engaged by Keystone in its 

19 government relations efforts. Kissel representatives hand-delivered the checks to the candidate 

20 committees, apparently in January 2010. /d. 

21 Copies of the checks show that each was drawn on an account of "TransCanada Keystone 

22 Pipeline, LP, 450 t•t Street S.W., Calgary Alberta 502 SHI." Keystone Response, Ex. C. A 

23 printed notation on the check face underneath the amount reads "U.S. FUNDS, TransCanada 

2 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline OP. LLC 

Keystone Pipeline, LP." Jd. The checks also indicate the bank where the account was 

maintained is Citibank, N.A., at an address in New York City. 

As required under Nebraska law, on February 2, 2010, Jensen filed with the Nebraska 

Accountability and Disclosure Commission ("NADC'') a Form B-7, ••Report of Political 

Contributions of a Corporation, Union or Other Association," for each donation. IR those forms, 

Keystone asserts that Jensea erroneously identified TransCar1ada Corporatiun as the donor. 

Keystone Response at 3, and Ex. D. The forms list anotb'er Omaha, Nebraska, address where 

Keystone operates locally. Keystone Response at 2, Ex. D. Tho Form B-7s have since been 

amended to show Keystone LP as the donor. /d., Ex. E. 

The Heineman and Bruning Committees' initial disclosure reports show that they either 

incompletely or erroneously reported the donations at issue.1 The Heineman Committee reported 

its donation as coming from TransCanada Keystone Pipeline at the 450 1st St. address printed on 

the check but listed the city and state as Omaha, Nebraska, rather than Calgary. See MUR 6401 

Complaint attachment, Heineman Committee NADC Form B-1, Schedule B, page 10 of II; 

MUR 6432 Complaint, Bx. 1. The Bruning Committee reported its donation as coming from 

TransCanada Keystone Pipeline LP with no addtess whatsoever. See MUR 6401 Complaint 

Amendment, Brw:'ing Committee NADC Form B-1, Schedule B, page 11 of 12; MUR 6432 

Complaint, Ex. 2. 

1 It appears that only the most current version of the state disclosure reports are available on the NADC's website 
since the state committees' reports for the period in question now available on-line have been amended. The NADC 
website states that the website database is based on the paper records filed with the NADC and that the paper 
records constitute the official records. See NADC website at http://nadc.nol.omlccdblsearch.cgi. 

3 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
TnnsCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

According to the complaint in MUR 6432, an auditor at the NADC discovered that the 

street address in one of the disclosure reports belonged to TransCanada in Calgary, Alberta? 

MUR 6432 Complaint at 2 and Ex. 3. The NADC contacted the Bruning and Heineman 

Committees on September 30,2010, about the possibility that the Keystone LP donati~n may not 

have been from a U.S. corporation. That same day, each committee separately issued refund 

checks to "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP." Keystone Response at 2. Keystone states that 

the committees refunded the donations ''out of an abundance 1of e&tlltion" despite ciarifying 

information it provided to them. Keystone Response at 3. 

B. Analvsls 

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ('1he Act''), prohibits a foreign 

national, directly or indirectly, from making a contribution or donation of money or other thing 

of value in connection with a Federal, State, or local election. 2 U.S.C. 

§ 441e(a)(l)(A), (B); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b). A foreign national is also prohibited from directly 

or indirectly making an expenditure, an independent expenditure, or a disbursement in 

connection with a Federal, State, or local election. 2 U.S.C. § 441e(a)(1)(C); 11 C.F.R. 

§ 11 0.20(f). In addition, Commission regulations prohibit foreign nationals from directing, 

dictating, controlling, or directly or indirectly participating in the decision-making process of any 

person, such as a corponrtion, with regard to such person's electicm-related activities, including 

decisions concerning the making of contributions, donations, expenditures, or disbursements in 

connection with elections for any Federal, State, or local office. 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(i). 

2 The MUR. 6432 complaint and an a~ed Internet ncle state that the Calgary street address was listed in the 
Bruning Committee's state disclosure report. The attached copies of the original paper reports, tiled on Aprill2, 
20 I 0, however, show that the Heineman Committee listed a street address and the Bruning Committee listed no 
address. See MUR 6432 Complaint at Ex. 1 and Ex. 2. 

4 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
Trar.sCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

1 The Act and Commission regulations define "foreign national" to include "foreign 

2 principals," as defined in 22 U.S.C. § 6ll(b), and an individual who is not a citizen or national of 

3 the United States ~nd who is not a permanent resident. 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b). A •'foreign 

4 principal" includes "a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of 

s persons organized under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign 

~ 6 country." 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b)(l) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 6ll(b)(3)). 
Ul ... 7 
C) 

In past advisory opiniens, lhe Commission has permitted a U.S. subsidiary of a foreign 

a) 
8 I'll national corporation to make donations and disbursements in conne<:tion with state and loc:aJ 

q" 
q' 

0 
9 elections when: (1) the donations and disbursements derive entirely from. funds generated by the 

..... 10 ..... subsidiary and not from funds provided by the foreign parent; and (2) when all decisions 

II concerning the donations and disbursements are made by U.S. citizens or permanent residents, 

12 except for setting the overall budget for donations. See Advisory Opinions 2006-15 

13 (TransCanada)(wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of a foreign corporation that receive no 

14 subsidies from their foreign parent or other foreign national may make donations to state and 

IS local candidates as long as no foreign national participates in the decision-making, except for 

16 setting overall budget amounts, and they use funds getterated by their domestic operations 

17 maintained in U.S. bankaccoants); 1992-15 (Nansay Hawnii)(wholly-owned subsidiary ofa 

18 foreign corporation that received some snbsidies from its foreign parent may make donations in 

19 connection with state and local elections where it currently had substantial net earnings 

20 generated by its domestic operations p1aced in segregated accounts that received no subsidies, 

21 and provided that, in the future, it could demonstrate through a reasonable accounting method 

22 that it had sufficient funds in its accounts to make donations, other than funds given or provided 

23 by its foreign national parent). 

s 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline GP, LLC 

1 Keystone states that the donations to the state candidate committees were made with U.S. 

2 operating funds from an account maintained in a U.S. financial institution. ld. at 3. It points out 

3 that the attached photocopies of the donation checks were drawn on a New York Citibank, N.A. 

4 bank account and bear the notation "U.S. Funds" on the check faces. It also explains that the 

s Canadian address on the checks is that ofTransCanada's Accounts Payable center, an office that 

6 merely process.:s payments authorized by operating units ofTransCanada, including Keystone. 
N 
{,0 7 
M 

Id at 3. Finally, K-eystone stebes tliat Keystone LP received no aubsidies 1hml foreign nationals 

0 
8 ct.) and generated subttantial net eamings fi'Om which it funded the donations. KISystone 

tfl 
q' 9 
q' 

Supplemental Response at 1-2. There is no information 1indicating that tha donations were 

co 
10 

" 
derived from non-U.S. funds. 

.... 
11 With respect to the status of those involved in making the donations, Keystone's response 

12 identifies only Beth Jensen, a U.S. citizen, and describes her role as approving and directing the 

13 disbursement of the donations. The response also states, however, that no foreign individual or 

14 entity "participate[ d) in the decision making process regarding the making of the contributions" 

15 and none directed or controlled the donations. Keystone Response ~t 3; see also Jd at 1. 

16 Consequently, it may be that Ms. Jensen was the sole decision-maker involved in making the 

17 don~1dons <,r illtat Keystone decided not :to spacitioally identify ather 11nn-fareign nationals who 

18 wore involved in the decisien-making process. In any case, tho Con1mission possesses ne 

19 information suggesting that any non-U.S. citizen or non-permanent resident was involved in 

20 decisions to make the donations. 

21 Based on Keystone's response, it appears that the donations to the Bruning and Heineman 

22 Committees were made using funds generated by a domestic subsidiary that received no 

23 subsidies from a foreign national, and that no foreign national was involved in the decision to 

6 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
TransCanada Keystone Pipeline OP, LLC 

1 make the donations. Accordingly, the Commission has determined to find no reason to believe 

2 that TransCanada Keystone GP, LLC, as the general partner that conducts the activities of 

3 Keystone LP, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le. 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

RESPONDENT: Bruning for Attorney General MURS: 640 I and 6432 

I. INTRODUCTION 

7 This matter was generated by complaints filed with the Federal Election Commission by 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
13 
14 

the Nebraska Democratic Party and Bold Nelrraska alleging a violation of the Fede•al Election 

Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (''tha Aet''), by Bruning fer Attorney Oeneral ("the Bruning 

Committee"). 

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

A. Facts 

The complaints in these matters allege that the Bruning Committee accepted a $2,500 

1 S prohibited foreign national donation from TransCanada Corporation ("TransCanada"), a 

I 6 Canadian corporation, or one of its foreign subsidiaries that the Committee reported as received 

17 from "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline LP." TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, GP, LLC 

18 ("Keystone"), is a limited liability company registered in Delaware and headquartered in Texas 

I 9 with operatlotrs in Om;aba, NebmDka. Keystone is the ganeral parlher in TransCanada Keystone 

20 Pipeline, LP ("Keystone LP"), a Delaware limited partnership. Keystone jointly owns and 

21 controls Keystone LP with a limited partner, TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LLC, another 

22 Delaware limited liability company. Keystone and its limited partner are, in tum, subsidiaries of 

23 a Delaware corporation, TransCanada Oil Pipelines, Inc. All four entities are ultimately wholly-

24 owned by TransCanada. TransCanada is an energy infrastructure company that, among other 

25 things, develops and operates natural gas and oil pipelines in North America. Keystone LP is 

26 apparently responsible for constructing and operating the U.S. portion of an oil pipeline that 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Bruning for Attorney General 

transports crude oil from Alberta, Canada, to U.S. markets. See TransCanada March 14,2008, 

press release available at www.transcanada.com/3036.html. 

As general partner, Keystone directs all ofthe activities of Keystone LP, and Keystone 

employees approved and directed Keystone LP to make the donations at issue to the state 

committees in this matter. According to Keystone, sometime before December 11, 2009, Beth 

Jensen, its Director ofGoven1ment Relations and a U.S. citizen, reviewed with ootside counsel 

the permissibility and attendant reporting requirements, under state law, of making donations to 

Nebr.asl-'..a state candidates. Subsequently, Jensen approved donations of$2,500 each to the 

Bruning Committee and a.11other state candidate committee. Jensen sent an email on 

December 11,2009, instructing TransCanada's Accounts Payable staffto issue checks from 

Keystone operating funds to the two state campaigns. The Accounts Payable center, located in 

Calgary, Alberta, processed the checks. The Accounts Payable center issued the checks on a 

Keystone-controlled "U.S. funds Citibank account" in the name of Keystone LP and sent them to 

Jensen. Jensen then forwarded the checks to Kissel E&S Associates, an Omaha, Nebraska-based 

outside consulting firrn engaged by Keystone in its government relations efforts. Kissel 

representatives h'md-delivered the checl(s to the candidate committees, appm:sntly in January 

2010. 

A copy of the Brunins Committee's donation check shows that it was drawn on an 

account of"TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP, 450 1st Street S.W., Calgary Alberta 502 5Hl." 

A printed notation on the check face underneath the amount reads "U.S. FUNDS, TransCanada 

Keystone Pipeline, LP." The check also indicates the bank where the account was maintained is 

22 Citibank, N.A., at an address in New York City. 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Bruning for Attorney General 

As required under Nebraska law, on February 2, 2010, Jensen filed with the Nebraska 

Accountability and Disclosure Commission ("NADC") a Form B-7, "Report of Political 

Contributions of a Corporation, Union or Other Association," for the Bruning Committee 

donation. In that form, Keystone asserts that Jensen erroneously identified TransCanada 

Corporation as the donor. The form lists another Omaha, Nebraska, address where Keystone 

operates locally. Tf1e Fmm B-Thas since been amended to show Keystone LP as the donor. 

The Bruning Con;mittee's initial disclosure report shows thnt it incomplet,ely reported the 

donation at issue.1 It reported receiving a $2,500 donation from TraosCanada Keystone Pipeline 

LP but listed ~o address whatsoever. See MUR 6401 Complaint Amendment, Bruning 

Committee NADC Form B-1, Schedule B, page 11 of 12; MUR 6432 Complaint, Ex. 2. 

The Bruning Committee states that the NADC contacted it on September 30,2010, about 

the possibility that the Keystone LP donation may not have been from a U.S. corporation. 

Bruning Committee Response at 1-2.2 That same day, the Committee issued a refund check to 

"TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP." /d., Ex. 3. The Committee states that it refunded the 

donation "out of an abundance of caution" despite infonnation provided by Keystone indicating 

16 the donation was from a U.S. corporation. Id. at 1-2. 

17 B. Analvsis 

18 The Act prohibits a person, iri pertinent part, from knowingly accepting or receiving a 

19 donation made in connection with a Federal, State, or local election from a foreign national. See 

20 2 U.S.C. § 441e(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(8). 

1 It appears that only the most cunent version of the state disclosure report is available on the NADC's website 
since the report for the pariod in question now available on-line has been BIRended. Tim NADC website states that 
the website database is based on the paper records filed with the NADC and that the paper records constitute the 
official records. See NADC website at httn://nadc.nol.orglccdblsearch.cgi. 

2 The reference to the Bruning Committee Response is to its response in MUR 6401. The Committee responded to 
the complaint in MUR 6432 by referencing its earlier MUR 640 I response. 

3 



2 

3 

4 

5 

"' 6 U) 
~ 
a) 7 
Q) 
til 8 c:r 
q" 

(;) 9 
...... 

" 10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

IS 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Factual and Legal Analysis 
Bruning for Attorney Oencral 

The Act and Commission regulations define "foreign national" to include "foreign 

principals," as defined in 22 U.S.C. § 6ll(b), and an individual who is not a citizen or national of 

the United States and who is not a permanent resident. 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b). A "foreign 

principal" includes •'a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of 

persons organized under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign 

country." 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b)(l) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)(3)). 

In past advisory opinion.s, the Commission has1 pennitted a U.S. subsidiary of a foreign 

national corporation to make donations and disbursements in connection with state and local, 

elections when: (1) the donations and disbursements derive entirely from funds generated by the 

subsidiary and not from funds provided by the foreign parent; and (2) when all decisions 

concerning the donations and disbursements are made by U.S. citizens or permanent residents, 

except for setting the overall budget for donations. See Advisory Opinions 2006-1 5 

(TransCanada)(wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of a foreign corporation that receive no 

subsidies from their foreign parent or other foreign national may make donations to state and 

local candidates as long as no foreign national participates in the decision-making, except for 

setting overall budget amounts, and they use funds gcmerated by their domestic operations 

maintained in U.S. bank accounts); 1992-15 {Nansay HaJWaii){wholly-ovmed Sllhsidiary of a 

foreign corporation that received some subsidies from its foreign parent may make donations in 

connection with state and local elections where it currently had substantial net earnings 

generated by its domestic operations placed in segregated accounts that received no subsidies, 

and provided th~t, in the future, it could demonstrate through a reasonable accounting method 

that it had sufficient funds in its accounts to make donations, other than funds given or provided 

by its foreign national parent). 

4 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
Bruning for Attomey Oeneral 

1 Keystone has stated that the donation t~ the Bruning Committee was made with U.S. 

2 operating funds from an account maintained in a U.S. financial institution. It has also pointed 

3 out that the donation check was drawn on a New York Citibank, N .A. bank account and bears the 

4 notation "U.S. Funds" on the check face. It has also explained that the Canadian address on the 

S check is that ofTransCanada's Accounts Payable center, an office that merely processes 

6 payments authorized by operating units ofTransCa1111da, includtng Keystone. FinaHy, Keystone 

7 has stated that Keyst"ne LP received no subsidies from foreign nationals and ganeratecl 

8 substantial net ea'mings from which it funded the donations. There is no information indM:ating 

9 that the donation was derived from non-U.S. funds. 

10 With respect to the status of those involved in making the donation, Keystone identifies 

II only Beth Jensen, a U.S. citizen, and describes her role as approving and directing the 

12 disbursement of the donation. Keystone maintains, however, that no foreign individual or entity 

13 "participate[ d] in the decision making process regarding the making of the contribution[ ]" and 

14 none directed or controlled the donation. Consequently, it may be that Ms. Jensen was the sole 

IS decision-maker involved in making the donation or that Keystone decided not to specifically 

16 identifY other non-foreign nationals whe were involved in the decision-making process. In any 

17 case, the Commission possesses no information that nny non-U.S. citian or non-permanent 

18 resident was involved in the decision to make the donation. 

19 The Bruning Committee promptly refunded the donation when NADC notified it of a 

20 potential problem with the donation despite statements from TransCanada representatives that 

21 the donation was permissible. Bruning Committee Response at 2, Ex. 3 (refund check). It 

22 contends that any potential violation was inadvertent and requests that the Commission dismiss it 

23 from the matters. 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Bruning for Attorney General 

Based on the available infonnation, it appears that the donation to the Bruning 

Committee was made using funds generated by a domestic subsidiary that received no subsidies 

from a foreign national, and that no foreign national was involved in the decision to make the 

donation. Therefore, the Commission has detennined to find no reason to believe that Bruning 

for Attorney General violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le by accepting a foreign national donation. 

6 



1 

2 

3 
4 
s 
6 

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

RESPONDENT: Governor Heineman Committee MURS: 6401 and 6432 

I. INTRODUCTION 

7 This matter was generated by complaints filed with the Federal EJection Commission by 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
13 
14 

the Nebraska Domocmtic Party and Beld Nebraska alleging e violation of the Feder.nl Election 

Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), by the Governor Heineman Committee ("the 

Heineman Committee"). 

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

A. l!m 

The complaints in these matter allege that the Heineman Committee accepted a $2,500 

IS prohibited foreign national donation from TransCanada Corporation ("TransCanada"), a 

16 Canadian corporation, or one of its foreign subsidiaries that the Committee reported as received 

17 from "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline." TransCanada Keystone Pipeiine, GP, LLC 

18 ("Keystone"), is a limited liability company ~gistered in 'Delaware and headquarte;red iri Texas 

19 with operations in Omaha, Nebraska. Keystone is the general partner in TransCanada KeystoRe 

20 Pipeline, LP ("Keystone LP"}, a Delaware limited partnership. Keystone jointly owns and 

21 controls Keystone LP with a limited partner, TransC&r~..ada Keystone Pipeline, LLC, another 

22 Delaware limited Hability company. Keystone and its limited partner are, in tum, subsidiaries of 

23 a Delaware corporation, TransCanada Oil Pipelines, Inc. All four entities are ultimately wholly-

24 owned by TransCanada. TransCanada is an energy infrastructure company that, among other 

25 things, develops and operates natural gas and oil pipelines in North America. Keystone LP is 

26 apparently responsible for constructing and operating the U.S. portion of an oil pipeline that 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Comt\tlUee 

transports crude oil from Alberta, Canada, to U.S. markets. See TransCanada March 14,2008, 

press release available at www.transcanada.com/3036.html. 

As general partner, Keystone directs all ofthe activities of Keystone LP, and Keystone 

employees approved and directed Keystone LP to make the donation at issue in this matter. 

According to Keystone, sometinte before December 11, 2009, Beth Jensen, its Di1-ector of 

Govennnent Relations and a U.S. citizen, reviewed with outside counsel the permissibility and 

attendant repnrting requirmnents~ under state law, of making donations to Nebreska state 

candidates. Subsequently, Jensen approved donations of $2,500 each to tlte Heineman 

ComR'Jttee and another state candidate committee. Jensen sent an emai I on December 11, 2009, 

instructing TransCanada's Accounts Payable staff to issue checks from Keystone operating funds 

to the two state campaigns. The Accounts Payable center, located in Calgary, Alberta, processed 

the checks. The Accounts Payable center issued the checks on a Keystone-controlled "U.S. 

funds Citibank account" in the name of Keystone LP and sent them to Jensen. Jensen then 

forwarded the checks to Kissel E&S Associates, an Omaha, Nebraska-based outside consulting 

firm engaged by Keystone in its govetnment relations efforts. Kissel representatives hand-

delivered the checks to the candidate commitiees, zppurently in JanuallY 2010. 

A copy of the Heineman Committee's donation check shows that it was drawn on an 

account of"TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP, 450 1st Street S.W., Calgary Alberta 502 5Hl." 

A printed notation on the check face underneath the amount reads "U.S. FUNDS, TransCanada 

Keystone Pipeline, LP." The check also indicates the bank where the account was maintained is 

Citibank, N.A., at an address in New York City. 

As required under Nebraska law, on February 2, 2010, Jensen tiled with the Nebraska 

Accountability and Disclosure Commission ("NADC") a Fonn B-7, "Report of Political 

2 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Committee 

Contributions of a Corporation, Union or Other Association," for the Heineman Committee 

donation. In that form, Keystone asserts that Jensen erroneously identified TransCanada 

Corporation as the donor. The form lists another Omaha, Nebraska, address where Keystone 

operates locally. The Form B-7 has since been amended to show Keystone LP as the donor. 

The Heinman Committee's initial disclosure report shows that it erroneously reported the 

donation at issue. 1 It reported receiving a $2,500 donation from TransCanada Keystone Pipeline 

at the 450 1st St. address printed on the oheck bot listed the city and stBte as Omaha, Nebraska, 

rather than Calgary. See MUR 6401 Complaint attachment, Heineman Committee NADC Fonn 

B-1, Schedule B, page 10 of 11; MUR 6432 Complaint, Ex. I. 

According to the complaint in MUR 6432, an auditor at the NADC discovered that the 

450 1st street address belonged to TransCanada in Calgary, Alberta. MUR 6432 Complaint at 2 

and Ex. 3. The Heineman Committee states that the NADC contacted it on September 30,2010, 

about the possibility that the Keystone LP donation may not have been from a U.S. corporation. 

Heineman Committee Response at 1.2 That same day, the Committee issued a refund ch~ck to 

"TransCanada Keystono Pipeline, LP." ld. at S. 

B. Analysis 

The Act prohibits a person, tn pertinent part, from knowingly accepting or receiving a 

donation made in connection with a Federal, State, or local election from a foreign national. See 

2 U.S.C. § 44le(a)(2); 11 C.P.R.§ ll0.20(g). 

1 It appears that only the most current version of the state disclosure report is available on the NADC's website 
since the report for the period in question now available on-line has been amended. The NADC website states that 
the website database is based on the paper records filed with the NADC and that the paper records constitute the 
official records. See NADC website at http://nadc.nol.org/ccdb/search.cgi. 

2 The reference to the Heineman Committee Response is to its response in MUR 6401. The Committee responded 
to the complaint in MUR 6432 by referencing its earlier MUR 6401 response. 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Comntlm:e 

The Act and Commission regulations define "foreign national" to include "foreign 

principals," as defined in 22 U .S.C. § 611 (b), and an individual who is not a citizen (>r national of 

the United States and who is not a permanent resident. 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b). A "foreign 

principal" includes "a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of 

persons organized wtder the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign 

cowttry." 2 U.S.C. § 441e(b)(1) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 6ll(b)(3)) . 

In past advisory opinions, the Commission has1permitted a U.S. subsidiary of a foreign 

national corporation to make donations and disbursements in conoection with state and local 

elections when: (I) the donations and disbursements derive entirely from funds generated by the 

subsidiary and not from funds provided by the foreign parent; and (2) when all decisions 

concerning the donations and disbursements are made by U.S. citizens or permanent residents, 

except for setting the overall budget for donations. See Advisory Opinions 2006-15 

(TransCanada)(wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of a foreign corporation that receive no 

subsidies from their foreign parent or other foreign national may make donations to state and 

local candidates as long as no foreign national participates in the decision-making, except for 

·setting uvurall budget amounts, and they use funds generated by their domestic operatiom; 

maintained in U.S. bank accounts); 1992-15 (Nansay Hawllii)(wholfy-owned subsidiary of a 

foreign corporation that received some subsidies from its foreign parent may make donations in 

connection with state and local elections where it currently had substantial net earnings 

generated by its domestic operations placed in segregated accounts that received no subsidies, 

and provided that, in the future, it could demonstrate through a reasonable accounting method 

that it had sufficient funds in its accounts to make donations, other than funds given or provided 

by its foreign national parent). 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Committee 

Keystone has stated that the donation to the Heineman Committee was made with U.S. 

operating funds from an account maintained in a U.S. financial institution. It has also pointed 

out that the donation check was drawn on a New York Citibank, N .A. bank account and bears the 

notation ''U.S. Fwtds" on the check face. It has also explained that the Canadian address on the 

check is that ofTr'BilsCanada's Accounts Payable center, an office that merely proc~sses 

payments outhorited by operating units of TransCannda, including Keystone. Finally, Keystene 

has stated that Keystone LP raceived no subsidies from foraign nationals and genemtml 

substantial net eamings from which it funded the do~m.tions. There is no information indicating 

that the donation was derived from non-U.S. funds. 

With respect to the status of those involved in making the donation, Keystone identities 

only Beth Jensen, a U.S. citizen, and describes her role as approving and directing the 

disbursement of the donation. Keystone maintains, however, that no foreign individual or entity 

''participate[ d) in the decision making process regarding the making of the contribution[]" and 

none directed or controlled the donation. Consequently, it may be that Ms. Jensen was the sole 

decision·maker involved in making the donation or that Keystone decided not to specifically 

identify otht.'l' non· foreign nationals who were involved in the decision.-making process. In any 

case, the Commission possesses no infonmation that any non-U.S. citizen or non-permancmt 

resident was involved in the decision to make the donation. 

The Heineman Committee promptly refunded the donation when NADC notified it of a 

potential problem with the donation. Heineman Committee Response at 1 and 5 (refund check). 

The Committee contends that any potential violation was inadvertent and requests that the 

Commission dismiss it from these matters. Heineman Committee Response at 1. 

s 



Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Committee 

Based on the available infonnation, it appears that the donation to the Heineman 

2 Committee was made using funds generated by a domestic subsidiary that received no subsidies 

3 ftom a foreign national, and that no foreign national was involved in the decision to make the 

4 donation. Therefore, the Commission has determined to find no reason to believe that the 

5 Governor Dave Heineman Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 44le by accepting a foreign national 

6 donation. 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
WASHINGIDN. D.C. 20463 

Bryan P. Roberston, Treasurer 
Governor Heineman Committee 
1610 N Street, Suite 100 
Lincoln, NE 68508 

Dear Mr. Robertson: 

JUN 13 2011 

RE: MUR6401 
Governor Heineman Committee 

On Octobor 27, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified the Governor Heineman 
Committee ("Committee") and you, as treasurer, of a complaint alleging a violation of the 
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On June 7, 2011, the Commission found, 
on the basis of the complaint and information provided in responses to the complaint, that there 
is no reason to believe the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441e. A~cordingly, the Commission 
closed its file in this matter. 

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See 
Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files, 
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General 
Counsel's Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2909). The Factual and 
Legal Analysis, which explains the Commission's finding, is enclosed for your information. 

If you have any questions, please contact Dawn Odrowski, the attorney assigned to this 
matter, at (202) 694a 1650. 

Sincerely, 

/l;tJ~ ~Q.Luckett 
Acting Assistant General Counsel 

Enclosure 
Factual and Legal Analysis 
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

RESPONDENT: Governor Heineman Committee MURS: 640 I and 6432 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This matter was generated by complaints filed with the Federal Election Commission by 

the Nebraska Democratic Party al\d Beld Nebraska alleging a violation of the Federal Eleetion 

Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), by the Gowemor Heineman Committee ("the 

Heineman Committee"). 

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

The complaints in these matter allege that the Heineman Committee accepted a $2,500 

prohibited foreign national donation from TransCanada Corporation ('VfransCanada'1, a 

Canadian corporation, or one of its foreign subsidiaries that the Committee reported as received 

from "TransCanada Keystone Pipeline." TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, GP, LLC 

(''Keystone"), is a limited liability company registered in Delaware and headquartered in Texas 

with operations in Omaha, Nebmska. Keystone is the general partner in TransCanada Keystone 

Pipeline, LP ("Keystone LP"), a Delaware limited partnership. Keystone jointly owns and 

controls Keystone LP with a limited partner, TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LLC, another 

Delaware limited liability company. Keystone and its limited partner are, in tum, subsidiaries of 

a Delaware corporation, TransCanada Oil Pipelines, Inc. All four entities are ultimately wholly-

owned by TransCanada. TransCanada is an energy infrastructure company that, among other 

things, develops and operates natural gas and oil pipelines in North America. Keystone LP is 

apparently responsible for constructing and operating the U.S. portion of an oil pipeline that 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Oowmor Heineman Colllll'littee 

transports crude oil from Alberta, Canada, to U.S. markets. See TransCanada March 14,2008, 

press release available at www.transcanada.com/3036.html. 

As general partner, Keystone directs all of the activities of Keystone LP, and Keystone 

employees approved and directed Keystone LP to make the donation at issue in this matter. 

According to Key,stone, sometime before December 11, 2009, Beth Jensen, its Di:rector of 

Govenunent Relations and a U.S. chizen, reviewed with outside counsel the pomiissibUity and 

attendant reporting requirements, under stcte law, ofmakiog donatians to Nebraska state 

candida:tes. Subsequently, Jensen approved donations of$2,500 ea!.:h to tlw..e Heineman 

Committee and another state candidate committee. Jensen sent an email on December 11,2009, 

instructing TransCanada' s Accounts Payable staff to issue checks from Keystone operating funds 

to the two state campaigns. The Accounts Payable center, located in Calgary, Alberta, processed 

the checks. The Accounts Payable center issued the checks on a Keystone-controlled "U.S. 

funds Citibank account" in the name of Keystone LP and sent them to Jensen. Jensen then 

forwarded the checks to Kissel E&S Associates, an Omaha, Nebraska-based outside consulting 

firm engaged by Keystone in its government relations efforts. Kissel representatives hand-

delivered the checks to the candidate committ.ees, apparontly in January 2010. 

A copy of the Heinnman Committee's donation cheek shows that it was dmvm on an 

account of"TransCanada Keys.tone Pipeline, LP, 450 1st Street S.W., Calgary Alberta 502 5Hl." 

A printed notation on the check face underneath the amount reads "U.S. FUNDS, TransCanada 

Keystone Pipeline, LP." The check also indicates the bank where the account was maintained is 

Citibank, N.A., at an address in New York City. 

As required under Nebraska law, on February 2, 2010, Jensen filed with the Nebraska 

Accountability and Disclosure Commission ("NADC") a Fonn B-7, "Report of Political 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Committee 

Contributions of a Corporation, Union or Other Association," for the Heineman Committee 

donation. In that fonn, Keystone asserts that Jensen erroneously identified TransCanada 

Corporation as the donor. The form lists another Omaha, Nebraska, address where Keystone 

operates locally. The Form B-7 has since been amended to show Keystone LP as the donor. 

The Heimnan Committee's initial disclosure report shows that it erroneously reported the 

donation at issue. 1 It reported receiving a $2,500 donation from TransCanada Keystone Pipeline 

at the 450 1st St. address printed on the cheek but listed the city and state as Omaha, Nebraska, 

rather than Calgary. See MUR 6401 Complaint attachment, Heineman Committee NADC Form 

8-1, Schedule 8, page 10 of 11; MUR 6432 Complaint, Ex. 1. 

According to the complaint in MUR 6432, an auditor at the NADC discovered that the 

450 1st street address belonged to TransCanada in Calgary, Alberta. MUR 6432 Complaint at 2 

and Ex. 3. The Heineman Committee states that the NADC contacted it on September 30, 201 0, 

about the possibility that the Keystone LP donation may not have been from a U.S. corporation. 

Heineman Committee Response at 1.2 That same day, the Committee issued a refund check to 

''TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP." /d. at 5. 

B. Analvsis 

The Act prohibits a person, in pertinent part, from knowingly accepting or receiving a 

donation made in connection with a Federal, State, or local election from a foreign national. See 

2 U.S.C. § 44le(a){2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 

1 It appears that only the most current version of the state disclosure report is available on the NADC's website 
since the report for the period in question now available on-line has been amended. The NADC website states that 
the website database is based on the paper records filed with the NADC and that the paper records constitute the 
official records. See NADC website at http://nadc.noJ.orglccdblsearch.cgi. 

2 The reference to the Heineman Committee Response is to its response in MUR 640 I. The Committee responded 
to the complaint in MUR 6432 by referencing its earlier MUR 640 I response. 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governcr Heineman Committee 

The Act ~nd Commission regulations define "foreign national" to include "foreign 

principals," as defined in 22 U.S.C. § 61l(b), and an individual who is not a citizen or national of 

the United States and who is not a permanent resident. 2 U.S.C. § 44Ie(b). A "foreign 

principal" includes "a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of 

persons organized under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign 

country." 2 U.S.C. § 44le(b)(l) (citing 22 U.S.C. § 6II(b)(3)). 

In past advisory opinions, the Commission has permitted a U.S. subsidiary of a foreign 

national corporation to make donations and disbursements in connection with state and local 

elections when: {I) the donations and disbursements derive entirely from funds generated by the 

subsidiary and not from funds provided by the foreign parent; and (2) when all decisions 

concerning the donations and disbursements are made by U.S. citizens or permanent residents, 

except for setting the overall budget for donations. See Advisory Opinions 2006- IS 

{TransCanada){wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of a foreign corporation that receive no 

subsidies from their foreign parent or other foreign national may make donations to state and 

local candidates as long as no foreign national participates in the decision-making, except for 

setting overall budget amounts, and they use fumJs generated by their domestio opo1ations 

maintained in U.S. bank accounts); I 992-IS (Nansay Hawltii)(wholly-owned subsidiary of a 

foreign corporation that received some subsidies from its foreign parent may make donations in 

connection with. state and local elections where it currently had substantial net earnings 

generated by its domestic operations placed in segregated accounts that received no subsidies, 

and provided that, in the future, it could demonstrate through a reasonable accounting method 

that it had sufficient funds in its accounts to make donations, other than funds given or provided 

by its foreign national parent). 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
GtWtmor Heineman Committee 

1 Keystone has stated that the donation to the Heineman Committee was made with U.S. 

2 operating funds from an account maintained in a U.S. financial institution. It has also pointed 

3 out that the donation check was drawn on a New York Citibank, N.A. bank account and bears the 

4 notation nu.S. Funds" on the check face. It has also explained that the Canadian address on the 

S check is that ofTransCanada's Accounts Payable center, an office that merely processes 

6 paymonts nuthorized by operating units ofTr~msCanada, includh1g Keystone. Finally, Keystone 

7 has stated that Keystone LP received no subsidies from foroign nationals nnd generated 

8 substantial net earnings from which it funded the donations. There is no information indicating 

9 that the donation was derived from non-U.S. funds. 

10 With respect to the status of those involved in making the donation, Keystone identifies 

II only Beth Jensen, a U.S. citizen, and describes her role as approving and directing the 

12 disbursement of the donation. Keystone maintains, however, that no foreign individual or entity 

13 "participate[ d] in the decision making process regarding the making of the contribution[ ]" and 

14 none directed or controiled the donation. Consequently, it may be that Ms. Jensen was the sole 

1 S decision-nu\l(er involved in making the donation o1· that Keystone decided not to specifically 

16 identify other non-foreign nationals who were involved in the decision-making process. I~ any 

17 case, the Commission posscBses no information that any no11-U.S. citizen cr non-pcrmanctJ:tt 

18 resident was involved in the decision to make the tklnation. 

19 The Heineman Committee promptly refunded the donation when NADC notified it of a 

20 potential problem with the donation. Heineman Committee Response at 1 and S (refund check). 

21 The Committee contends that any potential violation was inadvertent and requests that the 

22 Commission dismiss it from these matters. Heineman Committee Response at 1. 
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Factual and Legal Analysis 
Governor Heineman Comrr..ittec 

Based on the available information, it appears that the donation to the Heineman 

Committee was made using funds generated by a domestic subsidiary that received no subsidies 

from a foreign national, and that no foreign national was involved in the decision to make the 

donation. Therefore, the Commission has determined to find no reason to believe that the 

Governor Dave Heineman Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441 e by accepting a foreign national 

donation. 
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